
 1 

 Democratic Services 
White Cliffs Business Park 
Dover 
Kent  CT16 3PJ 
 
Telephone: (01304) 821199 
Fax: (01304) 872452 
DX: 6312 
Minicom: (01304) 820115 
Website: www.dover.gov.uk 
e-mail: democraticservices 
 @dover.gov.uk 

 
 

DOVER DISTRICT LOCALITY BOARD 

 
The Dover District Locality Board was established in March 2012 as a decision-making, 
executive joint committee.  It will meet in an advisory capacity until such time as its terms of 
reference and functions have been formally agreed by Dover District Council and Kent 
County Council.  Agendas for the Board will be published five clear working days in advance 
of the date of the meeting and, unless considering exempt or confidential information, the 
agenda papers and meeting itself will be open to the public.  Notice of exempt or confidential 
items will be given in advance on the agenda. 

 
 

19 November 2012 
 

 
 
Dear Member of the Dover District Locality Board 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT a meeting of the DOVER DISTRICT LOCALITY 
BOARD (PRE-IMPLEMENTATION) will be held in the HMS Brave Room at these Offices on 
Tuesday 27 November 2012 at 2.00 pm  
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
 
Chief Executive  
 

Dover District Locality Board (pre-implementation) Membership: 
 
Dover District Council Members 
 
Councillor P A Watkins 
Councillor S S Chandler 

 

Kent County Council Members 
 
Councillor N J Collor 
Councillor G Cowan 
Councillor S C Manion 
Councillor L B Ridings 
Councillor J A Rook 
Councillor C J Smith 

 

 
AGENDA 
 

1 APOLOGIES   
 

Public Document Pack



 2 

2 APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS   
 

 To note appointments of Substitute Members.  
 

3 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

 To receive any declarations of interest from Members in respect of business to be 
transacted on the agenda.  
 
Where a Member has a new or registered Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) in a 
matter under consideration they must disclose that they have an interest and, 
unless the Monitoring Officer has agreed in advance that the DPI is a 'Sensitive 
Interest', explain the nature of that interest at the meeting.  The Member must 
withdraw from the meeting at the commencement of the consideration of any matter 
in which they have declared a DPI and must not participate in any discussion of, or 
vote taken on, the matter unless they have been granted a dispensation permitting 
them to do so.  If during the consideration of any item a Member becomes aware 
that they have a DPI in the matter they should declare the interest immediately and, 
subject to any dispensations, withdraw from the meeting. 
 
Where a Member is declaring an Other Significant Interest (OSI) they must also 
disclose the interest and explain the nature of the interest at the meeting.  The 
Member must withdraw from the meeting at the commencement of the 
consideration of any matter in which they have declared a OSI and must not 
participate in any discussion of, or vote taken on, the matter unless they have been 
granted a dispensation to do so or the meeting is one at which members of the 
public are permitted to speak for the purpose of making representations, answering 
questions or giving evidence relating to the matter.  In the latter case, the Member 
may only participate on the same basis as a member of the public and cannot 
participate in any discussion of, or vote taken on, the matter and must withdraw 
from the meeting in accordance with the Council's procedure rules.  
 

4 NOTES  (Pages 4 - 7) 
 

 To confirm the attached Notes of the meeting of the Board held on 24 September 
2012.  
 

5 EXPANSION EAST KENT   
 

 To receive a verbal update from Councillor Paul Carter, Leader of Kent County 
Council.  
 

6 KENT COUNTY COUNCIL'S COMMISSIONING PLAN FOR EDUCATION 
PROVISION  (Pages 8 - 30) 
 

 To consider the attached report from Councillor Mike Whiting, KCC Cabinet Member 
for Education, Learning and Skills.  
 

7 SUB-GROUP UPDATES  (Page 31) 
 

 (a) Libraries Sub-Group – To receive a verbal update. 
 
(b) Student Progression Working Group: 
 
 



 3 

 (i) To agree the attached terms of Reference and Membership of the 
Student Progression Working Group. 

 
 (ii) To receive an update from Councillor Kit Smith on K College. 
 
 (iii) To receive an update from Councillor Kit Smith on Walmer Science 

and Castle Community College. 
 

(c) Youth Sub-Group – To receive an update from Nigel Baker, KCC Head of 
Kent  Youth Service.  

 

8 SOUTH KENT COAST HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD UPDATE   
 

 To receive an update from Councillor Paul Watkins, Leader of Dover District 
Council.  
 

9 FUTURE MEETINGS   
 

 To note that the 16 April 2013 meeting will be rearranged due to KCC elections.  
 

10 MATTERS RAISED BY MEMBERS OF THE BOARD   
 

 To consider any other business raised by members of the Board. 
 
This item will be included on the agenda until the Board moves beyond advisory status and public 
notice requirements officially come into effect.    
 

 
 
 

Access to Meetings and Information 
 

• Members of the public are welcome to attend meetings of the Council, its 
Committees and Sub-Committees.  You may remain present throughout them except 
during the consideration of exempt or confidential information. 

 

• All meetings are held at the Council Offices, Whitfield unless otherwise indicated on 
the front page of the agenda.  There is disabled access via the Council Chamber 
entrance and a disabled toilet is available in the foyer.  In addition, there is a PA 
system and hearing loop within the Council Chamber. 

 

• Agenda papers are published five clear working days before the meeting.  
Alternatively, a limited supply of agendas will be available at the meeting, free of 
charge, and all agendas, reports and minutes can be viewed and downloaded from 
our website www.dover.gov.uk.  Minutes are normally published within five working 
days of each meeting.  All agenda papers and minutes are available for public 
inspection for a period of six years from the date of the meeting.  Basic translations of 
specific reports and the Minutes are available on request in 12 different languages. 

 

• If you require any further information about the contents of this agenda or your right 
to gain access to information held by the Council please contact Kate Batty-Smith, 
Democratic Support Officer, telephone: (01304) 872303 or email: kate.batty-
smith@dover.gov.uk for details. 

 

Large print copies of this agenda can be supplied on request. 



 Notes of the pre-implementation meeting of the DOVER DISTRICT LOCALITY 
BOARD held at the Council Offices, Whitfield on Monday 24 September 2012 at 
11.00 am. 

 
 Present: 
 
 Chairman:  Councillor P A Watkins 
 
 Councillors:  S S Chandler 
  N J Collor 
  G Cowan (for agenda items 5-12) 
  L B Ridings    
  C J Smith 
         
 Also Present:  Councillor P M Beresford 
  Councillor P I Carter 
  Councillor L A Keen 
  Councillor M A Russell 
  Councillor P Walker 
   
 Officers: Chief Executive (Dover District Council) 

Director of Environment and Corporate Assets (Dover District 
Council) 

  Alternative Service Delivery Manager (Dover District Council) 
Leadership Support and Communications Manager (Dover District 
Council) 

  Leadership Support Officer (Dover District Council) 
  Mrs Jenny Olpin (Kent County Council) 
  Mr Will Farmer (Kent County Council) 
  Ms Jackie Taylor-Smith (Kent County Council) 
  Ms Jacqui Ward (Kent County Council) 
  Democratic Support Officer (Dover District Council) 
 
 Apologies for absence were received from County Councillor Julie Rook, and 

Ms Janice Duff and Ms Rebecca Spore (Kent County Council). 
 
13 NOTES 
 
 The Notes of the meeting of the Board held on 18 June 2012 were approved as a 

correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
14 LOCAL CHILDREN'S TRUST BOARD 
 
 Mr Will Farmer advised the Board that the Joint Commissioning Board had 

commissioned a review of Children's Trust Board (CTB) arrangements across Kent, 
looking at the strengths, weaknesses, etc of the current partnership arrangements 
and allocation of resources.  The ultimate aim of the review was to improve services 
for children and young people.  Comments from stakeholders were sought by 
29 October and Mr Farmer undertook to circulate further details.    

 
 In response to Councillor P A Watkins, Mr Farmer advised that it was anticipated 

that the CTB, which would make comments to the review through its chairman, 
would be a sub-group of the Board.  In response, Councillor S S Chandler stressed 
that that arrangement should be reviewed to look at reporting procedures and 
representation on both boards.   Mr Farmer confirmed that there was an ambition to 

Agenda Item No 4

4



have a CTB representative on the Locality Board, this being the arrangement in 
some other parts of Kent.  It was agreed that the CTB review needed to be 
undertaken before the review of partnerships envisaged in the Board's Work 
Programme. 

 
 It was reported to the Board that the CTB had made recommendations to KCC on 

the priorities for this year's community chest funding.  Kent County Council's (KCC) 
commissioning unit had approved three priorities for funding which had been put out 
to tender.  The approved priorities included a NEET project (aimed at young people 
not in education, employment or training); family advice and support for people with 
challenging behaviour.  Concerns were raised about the lack of clarity and 
coordination surrounding the allocation of money for such projects, as well as the 
fact that CTB priorities were not necessarily being pursued by KCC.  The way in 
which the projects had been identified and monies allocated illustrated the 
overwhelming need for a review, and in particular an assessment of how the 
Board's strategic, overarching role could be improved.     

 
 AGREED: (a) That Councillor S S Chandler and the Alternative 

Service Delivery Manager would respond to the 
consultation on behalf of the Dover District Locality 
Board. 

 
   (b) That Jenny Whittaker (Central Commissioning Team, 

KCC) be approached in relation to concerns raised by 
the Boardregarding funding co-ordination. 

 
15 EXPANSION EAST KENT 
 
 The Board was informed that Expansion East Kent (EEK) was formerly the Regional 

Growth Fund and had been established to offer £35 million in loans over 4 years to  
encourage jobs and growth by supporting businesses.  Since the programme was 
launched on 27 April 2012, 29 full applications had been received, of which 3 had 
formally been offered funding of £1 million to date.  Many of the 354 'pre-
applications' received had been rejected because they were either looking for 100% 
funding (some private funding was a condition), not creating jobs or were outside 
the area.   

 
 Ms Ward confirmed that she was aware of concerns regarding the complexity of the 

application process, and assured Members that these were being addressed.  EEK 
was particularly committed to helping small businesses, by providing additional 
support for the application process and holding workshops to assist companies in 
creating a business case in order to obtain private funding.  Applications were not 
prioritised on how many jobs they would create, and it was anticipated that the 
number of applicants applying for maximum funding of £2.5 million would be 
minimal.  Several Members emphasised the opportunities that EEK offered to 
fledgling businesses, and stressed the importance of encouraging and facilitating 
such businesses, for example by giving grants if private funding was not available.   

 
 The Board was advised that the scheme would be reviewed on a regular basis, with 

a formal review taking place in December.   It was confirmed that repaid loan money 
would be recycled back into EEK.  The period for loans would be negotiable (not 
necessarily 4 years), but there were timescales for delivering jobs.   Applications 
were assessed and credit checks conducted by PWC, following which they were 
presented to the Investment Advisory Board for consideration. 

 

5



 AGREED: (a) That a list of Investment Advisory Board members be 
circulated. 

 
   (b) That Mr Mark Dance be invited to attend the next 

meeting of the Board.   
 
   (c) That an update on East Kent Expansion be included as 

a regular item on Board meeting agendas.  
 

16 DOVER ADULT STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP 
  

Mrs Jenny Olpin referred Members to the paper circulated at the meeting.   The 
Board was advised that there had been a decline in voluntary sector attendance at 
meetings of the Dover Adult Strategic Partnership (DASP), which had lacked 
direction in recent years.  However, the establishment of the local Health and 
Wellbeing Board (HWB) had injected new vigour into the DASP, and it had become 
less focused on operational issues and more strategically minded. Nevertheless, it 
was agreed that the DASP was in need of a radical overhaul and a key element of 
this would be identifying a suitably high-level voluntary sector representative (i.e. 
Jonathan Sloggett).  The Alternative Service Delivery Manager added that practical 
issues, such as meetings venues, would also need to be considered if voluntary 
sector involvement were to improve.    

 
 AGREED: (a) That the DDC Leadership Support & Communications 

Manager, Councillor L B Ridings and Ms Olpin work 
together to review arrangements and identify a way 
forward.     

 
   (b) That the report be noted. 
 
17 LOCALITY BOARD WORK PROGRAMME 2012-13 
 
 The Leadership Support and Communications Manager introduced the Work 

Programme, advising that it was split between a Strategic Action Plan and an 
Operational Action Plan.   Members welcomed the planned review of partnerships 
and the creation of a Dover Student Task Force.   In respect of the latter, it was 
suggested that the Locality Board could assume responsibility for developing a 
model 'path' for young people to follow from the age of 14 through to employment.   
Members also highlighted the following issues: 

 

• Confusion amongst further education colleges; 

• Importance of helping young people into work, including apprenticeships and 
work placements; 

• Help for small businesses in identifying their training needs; 

• Fragmentation of secondary schools a complicating factor; 

• Effectiveness of Joint Transportation Board arrangements (particularly the 
Member Highway Fund). 

 
 AGREED: (a) That a Dover Student Task Force be established by 

November 2012. 
 
   (b) That the DDC Leadership Support & Communications 

Manager present a report to a future meeting of the 

6



Board outlining the remit and membership of identified 
partnerships and outcomes of the review. 

 
 (Councillor L B Ridings assumed the chairmanship of the meeting for a period of 

6 minutes during this item whilst Councillor P A Watkins left the room.) 
 
18 SUB-GROUP UPDATES 
 
 (1) Transformation of Youth Services in Kent 
 
 The Board was advised that, by the closing date for applications of 7 September, 

17 bids to deliver youth services in Dover had been received.   The commissioning 
budget for Dover would be £136,000 per annum.   The sub-group established by the 
Board at its meeting held on 18 June 2012 would meet on 8 October to assess bids 
and award contracts.    Young people's views would also be sought.   

 
 In response to Councillor Cowan, the Alternative Service Delivery Manager reported 

that discussions had taken place between the Head of Integrated Youth Services, 
KCC and the head teacher at Christ Church Academy regarding the future provision 
of youth services at the school.   Councillor Watkins advised that there had been 
developments surrounding K College and Christ Church Academy, including a new 
head teacher and chairman of governors at the latter.  A decision on the form of the 
new building at Whitfield was therefore unlikely to be imminent. 

 
 (2) Libraries 
 

 Ms Taylor-Smith gave a verbal update, advising that community consultation had 
been launched and the Libraries Sub-Group had met to look at opportunities to 
reduce costs, generate income, etc.   The sub-group would consider consultation 
responses, develop ideas and report back to the Board at its November meeting.    

 
 AGREED: That the updates on Youth Services and Libraries be noted. 
 
19 SHADOW HEALTH AND WELL-BEING BOARD UPDATE  
 
 Councillor Watkins reported that Shepway was now a formal member of the shadow 

HWB.   Dover and Shepway would each have a voluntary representative on the 
HWB, with Dover's representative replacing Malcolm Barry who had sadly passed 
away.  The Board's terms of reference had been agreed and covered relationships, 
public health, community aspects, etc.   The HWB was a role model for Kent, having 
already approved two projects (relating to nutrition and pharmacies), and with the 
Clinical Commissioning Group about to appoint lay members and consult on a 
forward plan.    

 
 AGREED: That the update on the Shadow Health and Wellbeing Board 

be noted. 
 
20 FUTURE MEETINGS 
 
 AGREED: That future meeting dates in November, February and April 

be noted.     
 
 
 The meeting ended at 1.09 pm. 

7



To:  Dover Locality Board 

Subject:  Kent’s Commissioning Plan for Education Provision 

Summary: To propose the Locality Board, or a sub-group of it, set up a mechanism to review 

the Kent’s Commissioning Plan for Education Provision on an annual basis. 

INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Kent County Council (KCC) has two fundamental educational duties: the provision of 

sufficient, high-quality school places and the improvement of school standards.  

 

1.2 In October 2012, KCC published the first iteration of Kent’s Commissioning Plan for 

Education Provision, and a district-specific version of the plan can be found in the appendix. 

The Commissioning Plan sets out the requirement for places in early years provision, and in 

primary, secondary and special schools until 2017; it identifies the areas where providers will 

need to match supply with demand. It provides the context for the future organisation of school 

places in Kent and sets out the principles that need to be given serious consideration when 

commissioning school places. It is KCC’s intention that the Commissioning Plan will be re-

published annually. 

 

1.3 The Commissioning Plan for Educational Provision in Kent supports KCC’s objective to be one 

of the best places for children and young people to grow up, learn, develop and achieve. Good 

and outstanding schools are the basis of strong communities and a strong local economy. 

Parents want their children to go to a good school and a choice of schools to select from. One of 

KCC’s aims is to ensure that there is a good choice of local schools within reasonable travelling 

distance and that the number of parents who are satisfied with the school places offered for 

their child increases. Securing good quality school places in every community is essential for 

every young person to have the best start in life.  

 

1.4 The data within the Commissioning Plan will be used by KCC to decide where new schools 

should be built and where existing schools should be either expanded or reduced in size. It is 

therefore vitally important that the figures contained within the Commissioning Plan are 

accurate, up-to-date and sufficiently localised to support school place planning. 

 

1.5 The forecasts for pupils’ numbers will be affected by families moving into an area and by the 

changes in birth rate. KCC is therefore reliant on close partnership working with other agencies, 

such as the District Council and the Health Agencies, in order to be kept informed of new 

housing developments and changes in live birth data.  

 

1.6 Any new school builds required would be funded from section 106 agreements and the 

Community Infrastructure Levy, in addition to the modest amount of basic needs funding 

provided to KCC by Central Government. District Councils determine the level of section 106 

agreements through their planning committees and so partnership working is vital to ensure the 

section 106 contributions for educational purposes are appropriate. 

 

Agenda Item No 6

8



1.7 Furthermore, District Councils may be aware of new providers entering the market now that 

parents and communities are able to make free school applications. Improved communication 

lines between the Councils will support KCC place the right type of educational provision in 

areas of growth. 

 

PROPOSAL 

 

2.1 KCC intends to re-publish the Kent’s Commissioning Plan for Education Provision 

annually, every October. The plan will be reviewed by KCC’s Education Cabinet 

Committee every six months. 

 

2.2.  Whilst the duty to ensure sufficient high-quality school places lies with the County, a greater 

level of involvement between the County and District Councils would be beneficial for the 

reasons outlined in paragraphs 1.4 to 1.6. 

 

2.3 The proposal therefore is for the Locality Board to agree a mechanism by which it can bi-

annually acquaint itself with the requirements, as set out in the Plan, and review them 

against local pressures (such as new housing developments and changes to the migrant 

population) and produce recommendations. A mechanism the Locality Board may wish to 

consider is the creation of the sub-group of the Locality Board which meets twice a year 

with planning officers from both the District and County Councils to provide in-depth 

scrutiny and input into the figures, before producing recommendations. 

 

2.4 If this proposal is approved, KCC would ask that the recommendations from the Locality 

Board would be fed back every April and September to KCC’s Cabinet Member for 

Education, Learning and Skills and KCC’s Education Cabinet Committee. Those 

recommendations would form the basis of any revised numbers in the Commissioning Plan 

to be re-published in October.  

 

2.5 Officer support for the review process from KCC will be provided by the Area Education 

Officer and the Head of Development. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

 

The Local Board is asked to agree to the proposal described above. 

 

 

CONTACTS: 

 

Mike Whiting 

Cabinet Member for 

Education, Learning and 

Skills 

01622 694296 

Mike.Whiting@kent.gov.uk 

Marisa White 

Area Education Officer for 

East Kent 

01227 284407 

Marisa.White@kent.gov.uk 

Nigel Smith 

Head of Development 

01622 221867 

Nigel.Smith@kent.gov.uk 

 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 

Kent’s Commissioning Plan for Education Provision (2012 version) – Dover extract.  

 

9



 
 
 
 
 

Commissioning Plan for Education Provision 
 

KENT 
 

2012 – 2017 
 

Dover (extract) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Published version: October 2012

Dover 

Swale 

Ashford 

Maidstone 

Sevenoaks 

Shepway 

Canterbury 

Tonbridge 

& Malling 

Gravesham 

Thanet 

Dartford 

Tunbridge 

Wells 

10



 
Foreword  
 

The role of local authorities within the education sector has been redefined by a 
combination of legislation.  Local authorities have significant core responsibilities as 
strategic commissioners of education provision, agents for school improvement and 
champions of children and their communities.   
 
These three responsibilities are intertwined.  The role of strategic commissioner is to ensure 
there is sufficient, suitable education provision, in the right place for all local children and 
young people; and also to ensure we achieve improved educational standards and good 
outcomes for children and young people, by ensuring they can attend a good or outstanding 
school.   
 
New provision opens opportunities to make schools better environments in which to learn.  
Expansion of popular and successful schools makes these accessible to more pupils.  
Places should be removed where capacity is not needed and it is necessary to protect 
standards and the quality of education.  However, an element of surplus capacity ensures 
parents are able to exercise choice, whilst balancing this with the need to achieve an 
efficient and effective education system. 
 
The County Council’s goals by 2015 are to ensure: 
 

• There will be more good schools, with at least 85% of primary and secondary schools 
judged as good or outstanding.  All special schools will be good or outstanding 

• At least 85% of families secure school places at their first preference school, and 
95% secure either their first or second preference 

• We maintain at least 5% surplus capacity in the primary school sector in each District 
of Kent  

• We maintain at least 5% surplus capacity in the secondary school sector in each 
travel to learn area of Kent  

• We make appropriate provision for children with special educational needs so as to 
reduce by 10% the number who need to attend independent and out of county  
provision away from their local community 

 
The context within which the Local Authority fulfils its role is changing.  The Local Authority 
is increasingly operating in a more diverse educational environment where decisions about 
school size and capacity are taken following dialogue and negotiation with a number of 
providers in the light of local demand.  Many schools can now make their own decisions 
about expansion and there are new providers coming into the market, such as free schools. 
Nevertheless the Local Authority remains the strategic commissioner of education provision, 
with a duty to plan strategically and ensure we have the right number and quality of school 
places for local children and their families.  We have a statutory responsibility to monitor the 
supply and demand for places and for ensuring that there is sufficient capacity to meet 
demand. 
 
This Commissioning Plan sets out our future plans as strategic commissioner of education 
provision across all types and phases of education. We will update this on an annual basis 
and consult regularly on future developments.  
 
County Councillor Mike Whiting 
Cabinet Member for Education, Learning and Skills  
 
 
1. Introduction  11



 

1.1 This Commissioning Plan for new educational provision in Kent is key to achieving 
our aim to be the most forward looking area in England for education and learning 
and one of the best places for children and young people to grow up, learn, develop 
and achieve.   

 
1.2 Good and outstanding schools are the basis of strong communities and a strong local 

economy.  All parents want their children to go to a good school and they want a 
choice of schools.  And all children and young people should be able to achieve well 
at school, from the earliest years through primary and secondary education, no 
matter what their background.  The goal of the education system in Kent is for all 
young people to have the best opportunities and to gain the right qualifications for 
rewarding employment and independence as they become young adults.  Securing 
good quality school places in every community is essential for every young person to 
have the best start in life.  

 
1.3 In Kent we are seeing a significant increase in pupil numbers and consequently a 

need for new provision.  The number of primary-aged pupils is expected to rise 
significantly from 116,600 in 2011, to 127,300 in 2016.  Beyond this point numbers 
remain comparatively level, although increases in some Districts are off-set by 
reductions in others.  There will be a need to continue to make new provision 
available in some Districts on a permanent basis.  

 
1.4 The secondary-aged population, while reducing between now and 2015 will rise 

through the latter part of this decade, and fall again in the first half of the 2020s.  The 
number of 11 to 16 year olds in Kent secondary schools is 80,372 in 2011-12, which 
will fall to 77,600 in 2015 and is forecast to rise to a peak of around 83,200 in 2021.  
The falling numbers to 2015 mask significant growth in some districts that run 
counter to the overall trend, so that additional forms of entry in Year 7 in some areas 
will still be needed.  

 
1.5 This Commissioning Plan, therefore, identifies the need for permanent new school 

provision as follows: 22.1 forms of entry in primary schools and 4 forms of entry in 
secondary schools across Kent by 2013.  By 2016 we will need 30.4 additional forms 
of entry in primary schools and 13 forms of entry in Year 7 in secondary schools 
because of growth in some areas, for example in Ashford, Sittingbourne, Tonbridge 
and Malling and Gravesham.  This is roughly equivalent to 25 new primary schools 
and 2 new secondary schools, although much of it will be achieved by expanding 
existing schools.  Beyond this period we are forecasting a need for 51 new forms of 
entry in primary schools and 26 new forms of entry in secondary schools.  While in 
many cases these needs are dependent upon future housing development, the 
increase in demand for education places is significant.  

. 
1.6 By clearly setting out the Local Authority’s future commissioning needs and plans we 

hope parents and providers will be in a better position to make proposals and 
suggestions regarding how these needs can be met.  This is a different approach to 
setting out predetermined solutions to perceived need, and should enable a greater 
range of options to be considered.  We welcome the fact that new providers, such as 
free schools, will be entering the market and believe that parents and communities 
should have a strong voice in proposals for future school development. The Local 
Authority also recognises that popular schools may wish to expand, or be under 
pressure from the local community to do so.  We support this greater diversity in the 
range of education provision available to Kent children and young people.  As the 
Strategic Commissioner of Education Provision, we welcome proposals from existing 
schools and new providers that address the needs, identified in this Plan, for new 
provision to meet increased demand and to improve the quality of education.   12



 
1.7 The draft Plan was widely consulted on during May and June 2012, and the 

responses to the consultation have informed this final version for publication. We will 

continue to consult regularly, review our forecast data and publish a revised Plan on 

an annual basis. This is an on-going process which will evolve as circumstances 

change and we take on board the views of parents and communities about the future 

shape of education provision in Kent.   

 

Patrick Leeson 
Corporate Director 
Education, Learning and Skills 
 

 

13



2. Executive Summary 
 
2.1 Purpose 

Kent County Council (The Local Authority) is the Strategic Commissioner of 
Education Provision in the County.  This Commissioning Plan sets out how we will 
carry out our responsibility for ensuring there are sufficient places of high quality for 
all learners, while at the same time fulfilling our other responsibilities to raise 
education standards, and be the champion of children and their families in securing 
good quality education.  The Plan also supports the delivery of the Local Authority’s 
Medium Term Plan, "Bold Steps for Kent", and its "Vision for Kent 2011-21".  The 
purpose of the Commissioning Plan is to be transparent about the future need for 
education provision in Kent, in order to enable parents and education providers to put 
forward proposals as to how these needs might best be met. 

 
2.2 Statutory Duties 

This Plan seeks to provide the framework within which we discharge the 
commissioning of future education provision.  The Local Authority has duties to 
ensure:  

• there are sufficient places for 3 and 4 year old children to be able to access their 
free early years entitlement (15 hours per week for 38 weeks a year); from 
September 2013, this duty will extend to providing free places to disadvantaged 2 
year olds;  

• all Kent residents of statutory school age (5 to 16 years old) have school places, if 
their families wish to take these up;  

• it provides full-time education to children who are not in school for reasons of 
illness, exclusion or otherwise; 

• that from September 2013 all 16/17 year olds are in full time education or 
employment with training; and from September 2015 all young people are in such 
provision up to their 18th birthday; 

• that children and young people’s learning needs are assessed, and statements of 
Special Educational Need (SEN) issued, where appropriate; this may require 
placement in special school provision in order to meet the child’s needs.  These 
responsibilities may extend to young people up to the age of 25; 

• that it considers parental representations about the exercise of its functions in 
relation to the provision of primary and secondary school education. 

 
2.3 Delivering Bold Steps – Vision for Education, Learning and Skills 

“Our aim is to be the most forward looking area in England for education and learning 
so that we are the best place for children and young people to grow up, learn, 
develop and achieve.  We want Kent to be a place where families thrive and all 
children learn and develop well from the earliest years so that they are ready for 
school, have excellent foundations for learning and are equipped for success in life, 
no matter what their background.  We want every child to go to a good or outstanding 
school.  We have the same expectations for every child and young person to make 
good progress in their learning, to achieve well at school and to have the best 
opportunities for an independent economic and social life as they become young 
adults.” 

 
2.4  In support of achieving this vision, by 2015 the Local Authority is planning to maintain 

a modest surplus of primary and secondary school places (between 5% and 7%); to 
increase the percentage of parents securing their preferred school(s) ( at least 85% 
to secure their first preference, and 95% to secure either their first or second 
preference); to improve the quality of schools (at least 85% of primary and secondary 
schools, and all special schools, will be judged as good or better); and to further 
develop in-County special education provision so as to reduce (by at least 10%) the 

14



number of out-County independent and non-state maintained special school places 
commissioned for Kent pupils. 

 
2.5 Principles and Guidelines 

It is important that the Local Authority is open about the principles and planning 
guidelines it will adhere to when making commissioning decisions or assessing the 
relative merits of any proposals it might receive.  This Commissioning Plan sets 
these out. 

 
2.6 Forecasting Future Education Provision Needs 

The Local Authority uses data on births and pre-school population figures from the 
Health Authority to inform the forecasting of pre-school and primary school pupil rolls.  
Secondary school and post-16 education needs are calculated from primary school 
rolls and transfer rates to secondary schools.  Migration in and out of different parts 
of Kent and housing developments are taken into account.  The methodology for 
forecasting the future needs for special education provision is being developed 
further, alongside the Local Authority’s SEN review, and will be incorporated into the 
next edition of this plan.  Over the last five years, forecasting for primary and 
secondary pupils at County level has generally been accurate to within plus or minus 
1%.  As would be expected, local forecasting has a greater variance, largely due to 
migration and pupil mobility.   

 
2.7 The increasing birth rate in Kent mirrors that of England and Wales.  Since 2002, the 

birth rate has risen from 56 births per 1000 women aged 15-44 years, to a little over 
65 in 2010.  The birth rates and trends in individual Districts in Kent vary.  Long term 
primary-aged population forecasts indicate primary school rolls will peak around the 
year 2016.  Beyond this date, the growth in some Districts, such as Ashford and 
Dartford, offset the reducing population in other Districts.  This data is used to ensure 
short and medium term planning decisions make sense in the long term context, with 
temporary and permanent accommodation solutions being used to meet changing 
demand.    

 
2.8 The increasing Reception Year numbers are expected to plateau in 2012/13, 

although a spike is expected in 2015/16.  The total pupil number attending primary 
schools will increase throughout the forecast period up to 2016/17.  Secondary 
school rolls will continue to fall, until 2016/17 when the Year 7 pupil intake numbers 
begin to exceed the outgoing Year 11 pupil numbers.  Year 7 rolls will begin to 
reduce again from 2020, and thus secondary school rolls will fall shortly after this 
time. 

 
2.9 Commissioning Additional Temporary and Permanent Places  

The Local Authority uses both temporary and permanent increases in school 
provision to help manage capacity.  Where forecasts indicate fluctuating pressure on 
places, or where short term local demographic factors influence demand, a 
temporary solution might be sought as the most appropriate or cost effective option.  
Where forecasts indicate increases in demand caused by new housing development, 
rising indigenous population or longer term demographic factors, a permanent 
solution may be the more appropriate solution.  Temporary solutions may also be 
established as a precursor to a permanent solution if rising trends continue. 

 

15



 
Commissioned additional places 2010 to 2014   

 

Year Cumulative temporary 
places added 

Cumulative permanent 
places added 

Total 

2010 80 200 280 

2011 270 658 928 

2012 560 1611 2171 

2013 675 3407 4082 

2014 735 4459 5194 

 
 The cumulative number of places will continue to increase over the next 5-6 years as 

we admit additional pupils in to Year R, and enlarged cohorts work through all the 
subsequent school year groups.  

 
2.10 Kent’s Forward Plan 

Detailed analysis, at District level, of the future need for primary and secondary 
school places is contained in this Plan.  This clearly sets out what provision needs to 
be commissioned, where, and when.  We need permanent accommodation as 
follows: 22.1 forms of entry (FE) in primary provision and 4 forms of entry in 
secondary schools across Kent by 2013; 30.4 forms of entry in primary, and 13 forms 
of entry in secondary by 2016; and 51 forms of entry in primary schools and 26 forms 
of entry in secondary schools beyond this period.  Temporary enlargements (bulge 
year groups) will also be required.  It is recognised that in many cases these needs 
are dependent upon future planned housing developments, and thus the timing may 
need to be adjusted. We will keep this under review. However, by clearly setting out 
the Local Authority’s future commissioning plans, it is hoped parents and providers 
will be in a better position to make proposals and suggestions regarding how these 
needs are met.  The identified needs have been costed to enable the Local 
Authority’s future capital programmes to be delivered. 

 
2.11 Funding for School Places 

 The Local Authority has a key role in securing funding to provide sufficient numbers 
of pupil places.  The cost of additional school places is currently met from basic need 
grant from the government, supported borrowing by the County Council and S106 
property developer contributions.  Other funding options include the Academies and 
Free Schools programmes.  There is a current government funding review for school 
building which will impact on education provision planning and may result in changes 
to the existing developer contribution mechanism.   

 
2.12 Special Educational Needs 

The Local Authority is currently developing a new strategy for SEN to ensure we 
make better provision for pupils with special educational needs and disabilities. At 
present we do not have enough provision in the county for children with autism and 
behavioural and emotional needs, and there is insufficient provision for post 16 
students with learning difficulties and disabilities.   Future decisions on SEN provision 
as well as capacity issues will be considered within the context of the need to 
consider cost effectiveness and value for money.  This Plan provides details of the 
Special Schools and Units within mainstream schools in Kent, but at this stage does 
not forecast future needs.  This will form part of the next edition of the Plan. 

 
2.13 Early Years Education 

In Kent, there is currently sufficient childcare provision for children aged 3 and 4 
years.  However, the position changes on a regular basis, as providers join and leave 
the market.  The need for new provision relating to the extension of the entitlement to 
free provision for 2 year olds in lower income families has been calculated at a 16



District level.  The Government has set Kent a target of establishing 3600 places by 
September 2013 and 7000 places by September 2014.  The Local Authority will work 
with providers to ensure this demand is met.   

 
2.14 Post-16 Education and Training in Kent 

The Plan recognises the need to ensure that education or employment with training 
pathways are available to young people in line with the legislative changes for raising 
the participation age for young people to age 18 by 2015. This programme of work 
requires new education and training provision for approximately 6000 more 16-18 
year olds each year, and more detailed plans are set out in the 14-24 Learning, 
Employment and Skills Strategy.   

 

17



4 Overview of Kent’s Demographic Trends 
 
4.1 Kent Birth Rates and Long Term Forecasts 
 

Chart 1 shows the changing birth rate in England and Wales, and in Kent over the 
past 20 years.  Chart 2 shows the number of births in Kent.  These demonstrate that 
the upward trend we have seen in the number of Reception Year children entering 
our schools will continue for the next few years, and as from 2013 the pattern of 
declining numbers of Year 7 pupils entering our secondary schools will reverse.  The 
trend for individual Districts1 in Kent will vary, and will affect the District forecasts 
contained in Appendix 1.   
 

Chart 1 – Birth rates in England & Wales and Kent 

Kent and England & Wales birth rates 1990-2010

54

56

58

60

62

64

66

1
9
9
0

1
9
9
1

1
9
9
2

1
9
9
3

1
9
9
4

1
9
9
5

1
9
9
6

1
9
9
7

1
9
9
8

1
9
9
9

2
0
0
0

2
0
0
1

2
0
0
2

2
0
0
3

2
0
0
4

2
0
0
5

2
0
0
6

2
0
0
7

2
0
0
8

2
0
0
9

2
0
1
0

B
ir
th
s
/1
0
0
0
 w
o
m
e
n
 a
g
e
d
 1
5
-4
4

Kent births/1000 women aged 15-44

England and Wales births/1000 women aged 15-44

 
 Chart 2 – Number of births in Kent 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Notes: (1) Births data shown above is by calendar year from the Office for National Statistics release FM01 

 

                                                 

 

Kent births 1990-2010

14000

14500

15000

15500

16000

16500

17000

17500

18000

1
9
9
0

1
9
9
1

1
9
9
2

1
9
9
3

1
9
9
4

1
9
9
5

1
9
9
6

1
9
9
7

1
9
9
8

1
9
9
9

2
0
0
0

2
0
0
1

2
0
0
2

2
0
0
3

2
0
0
4

2
0
0
5

2
0
0
6

2
0
0
7

2
0
0
8

2
0
0
9

2
0
1
0

18



4.2 Chart 2 (above) indicates that the number of births in Kent has increased by in 
excess of 20% between the period 2002 and 2010. 

 
4.3 Tables 3 and 4 below provide long term population forecasts.  These allow for 

planned housing developments and expected in-migration to the County.  In Kent 
there is a resident-based take-up of mainstream education of about 92% at the 
primary phase and 87% at the secondary phase (mid year population estimate 2010 
compared with annual schools census January 2011). This ranges from 79% primary 
take-up and 68% secondary take-up of mainstream places in Tunbridge Wells to 
near 100% take-up in some eastern Kent areas. Those not attending maintained 
schools in Kent are instead educated at home (1,045 pupils), attend independent 
schools, special schools or alternative education provision.   

 
 Table 3 

Long term primary-age population forecast by Kent District 
 

District 2011 2016 2021 2026 

Ashford 10700 12600 13600 14800 

Canterbury 10500 10900 10900 10300 

Dartford 8000 9400 10200 11200 

Dover 8000 9100 9400 9900 

Gravesham 8200 9400 9600 10100 

Maidstone 11900 12600 11900 11700 

Sevenoaks 9900 10400 9600 9300 

Shepway 7500 8200 7700 7600 

Swale 11300 12300 11700 11600 

Thanet 10400 11400 11100 10600 

Tonbridge & Malling 10700 10900 10200 10100 

Tunbridge Wells 9500 10100 9100 8900 

Kent 116600 127300 125000 126100 
 
Notes: 
(1) KCC strategy forecast (October 2011), Research and Evaluation, KCC 
(2) All figures have been individually rounded to the nearest one hundred and therefore may not sum 

 

 Table 4 
Long term secondary-age population forecast by Kent District 
 

District 2011 2016 2021 2026 

Ashford 7500 8400 9800 10200 

Canterbury 8500 7900 8300 8500 

Dartford 5700 5800 6900 7400 

Dover 6700 6100 7100 7200 

Gravesham 6200 5800 6900 7000 

Maidstone 8600 8400 9100 8700 

Sevenoaks 7000 6900 7600 6900 

Shepway 5800 5200 6000 5700 

Swale 8600 8100 9200 8700 

Thanet 8500 7500 8500 8300 

Tonbridge & Malling 7800 7800 8200 7800 

Tunbridge Wells 7700 7000 7800 7000 

Kent 88600 84900 95400 93400 
 
Notes:   
(1) KCC strategy forecast (October 2011), Research and Evaluation, KCC 
(2) All figures have been individually rounded to the nearest one hundred and therefore may not sum 

 

4.4 Table 3 indicates that the number of primary-aged children in Kent is expected to rise 
significantly from 116,600 in 2011, to 127,300 in 2016.  Beyond this point the 
population remains comparatively stable, although increases in some Districts are 19



off-set by reductions in others.  This indicates there will be a need to continue to 
make new provision available in some Districts on a permanent basis, while in 
others, temporary solutions may represent better value for money. 

 

4.5 Table 4 shows the secondary-aged population reducing between now and 2016, 
before rising through the latter part of this decade, and falling again in the first half of 
the 2020s.   

 

4.6 Long Term Primary Forecasts 
 
 Our primary forecasts provide a medium term view of the need for primary school 

places.  Long term primary forecasts, before children are born, are inherently difficult 
to produce.  However, it is important to have a view of the longer term to avoid 
making poor short and medium term decisions.  We are developing long term primary 
forecasts (Appendix 6) for each District using base data from the long term primary 
aged population data and historic uptake of places in each District.  These help guide 
the decisions made in Section 11. 

 

4.7 Housing 
 
 Table 5 provides an overview of completions and planned housing by District.  The 

planned housing numbers are used as part of the forecasting process but the current 
volatility in the UK and global economies, and Kent housing market means that the 
eventual level of house completions may differ significantly from the planned level, 
and this will alter the need for school places.  A comparison of historic actual and 
planned levels of housing completions by District has been completed2.  This 
information informs the District confidence levels referred to in Section 8.16 above.  
The number of planned house completions in the period 2011-16 is very high when 
compared to completion rates of the past, and in view of the current economic 
climate.   

 

 Table 5 
Completions and future planned housing for Kent Districts 

District 1996-2001 2001-06 2006-11 2011-16 2016-21 2021-26 

Ashford 3236 4020 2653 7091 8274 1472 

Canterbury 2775 2662 3651 1880 500 100 

Dartford  1438 2839 2423 5081 5432 4165 

Dover 937 1796 1507 1628 2411 1563 

Gravesham 399 1283 1554 1633 1332 756 

Maidstone 2275 3232 3629 2063 218 N/A 

Sevenoaks 1370 1487 1363 1189 875 261 

Shepway 1912 2451 1513 2109 3066 1823 

Swale 2549 3196 3332 1607 2636 3296 

Thanet 1461 2214 3773 3538 638 300 

Tonbridge & Malling 1754 3169 3358 4011 1077 N/A 

Tunbridge Wells 1457 1790 2031 916 N/A N/A 

Kent 21563 30139 30787 32746 26459 13736 
Notes: 
 (1) Future planned housing from Kent Integrated Infrastructure and Finance Model (IIFM) April 2012 
(2) It should be noted that where future planned housing looks very low it may be that Districts have yet to make housing 
allocations for those years 
(3) Districts are no longer obliged to follow South East England Regional Assembly (SEERA) housing allocation levels and are 
now to be determined locally 

4.8 Travel to School Patterns (pupil migration) 
 

Travel to school patterns from one District to another at the primary phase are 
relatively insignificant but the situation is very different at the secondary phase where 

                                                 

 
20



there are some significant cross border flows (Chart 3), including into and out of the 
County as well as between Kent Districts. 

 

 Chart 3  
 
 

 
 

 
Notes:  (1) Management Information Unit, KCC, based in analysis of District of home address against District of school location, 
Annual Schools Census (ASC) 2011 

 
4.9 The headlines for secondary travel to school patterns are as follows: 
 

• Pupils often travel significant distances, especially in the west of the County to 
grammar school and denominational provision 

• 3000 out of County children travel into Kent secondary schools (predominantly 
grammar schools).  This figure includes: 700 Medway children, 1,200 children 
travel into Dartford from London Boroughs (mainly Bexley Borough), 270 
travel into Tonbridge and 500+ into Tunbridge Wells  

• Only around 25% of children resident in Sevenoaks attend mainstream 
secondary provision within Sevenoaks District; 1,000 travel to Dartford, 1,300 
to Tonbridge and 700+ to Tunbridge Wells 

 
4.10 Current and Forecast Pupils in Mainstream Primary Education 
 

Chart 4 (below) shows that the number of Reception pupils in Kent schools has risen 
from 14,498 in 2006-07 to 16,209 in 2011-12. This is an increase of almost 12%.  In 
2006-07 Reception year groups at Kent primary schools operated with over 15% 
surplus capacity. This has reduced to 6% in 2011-12.  The number of Reception 
pupils is forecast to be around 16,600 to 16,800 over the next five years, apart from 
in 2015-16 where there is expected to be a peak of about 17,200 pupils. 

 

Chart 4 
Forecast reception pupil numbers 

21



 

Reception pupils in Kent mainstream primary schools

14000

14500

15000

15500

16000

16500

17000

17500

2
0
0
5
-0
6
 (A
)

2
0
0
6
-0
7
 (A
)

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 (A
)

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 (A
)

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 (A
)

2
0
1
0
-1
1
 (A
)

2
0
1
1
-1
2
 (A
)

2
0
1
2
-1
3
 (F
)

2
0
1
3
-1
4
 (F
)

2
0
1
4
-1
5
 (F
)

2
0
1
5
-1
6
 (F
)

2
0
1
6
-1
7
 (F
)

Reception pupils Admission number

 
  Notes:  (1) KCC pupil forecasts (2011-based), Provision Planning and Operations, KCC 
 

4.11 Table 6 presents Reception Year group data at District level.  It shows that the 
growth in pupil numbers is not uniform across the County, nor is the level of surplus 
capacity.  The current surplus capacity for Reception year groups varies from 2% in 
Swale to 15% in Sevenoaks.  If no further action is taken (apart from the completion 
of projects already planned and proposed) by the end of the forecasting period 
(2016-17) there will be 4% surplus capacity in Reception year groups across the 
county.  Action will be taken in those Districts where surplus capacity will fall below 
5% to provide additional places.  Solutions will vary from brand new provision to 
expansion of existing facilities through permanent or temporary means.  

 

 Table 6   
Current and forecast Reception Year pupils in mainstream schools by Kent 
District 

 
Admission 

numbers 
      

District 
2011-

12 

2016-

17 

Pupil roll 

2011-12 

Surplus 

places 

2011-12 

Surplus 

capacity 

2011-12 

(%) 

Pupil roll 

2016-17 

Surplus 

places 

2016-17 

Surplus 

capacity 

2016-17 

(%) 

Ashford 1456 1559 1415 41 2.8 1540 19 1.2 

Canterbury 1510 1506 1361 149 9.9 1435 71 4.7 

Dartford  1275 1380 1210 65 5.1 1299 81 5.9 

Dover 1297 1260 1201 96 7.4 1202 58 4.6 

Gravesham 1304 1346 1242 62 4.8 1301 45 3.3 

Maidstone 1736 1800 1622 114 6.6 1718 82 4.6 

Sevenoaks 1436 1366 1220 216 15.0 1252 114 8.3 

Shepway 1201 1210 1128 73 6.1 1150 60 5.0 

Swale 1696 1719 1662 34 2.0 1724 -5 -0.3 

Thanet 1498 1560 1459 39 2.6 1595 -35 -2.2 

T&M 1561 1566 1479 82 5.3 1394 172 11.0 

T Wells 1321 1311 1210 111 8.4 1276 35 2.7 

Kent 17291 17583 16209 1082 6.3 16886 697 4.0 

Notes:  (1) Provision Planning and Operations, KCC (December 2011) 
(2) 2011-12 (A) pupil roll data from Schools Census (Autumn term), October 2011 

 
4.12 Chart 5 and Table 7 (below) show that the number of primary pupils in Kent schools 

is forecast to rise from 106,097 in 2009-10 to around 118,000 in 2016-17.  This is an 
increase of 11.2%.  Kent primary schools currently operate with almost 9% surplus 22



capacity but this is forecast to decrease over the coming years to a little over 3% by 
2016/17 (taking into account the planned capacity changes (see Section 11). 

 
 Chart 5 

Forecast total primary school rolls 

 

Pupils in Kent mainstream primary schools

98000

100000

102000

104000

106000

108000

110000

112000

114000

116000

118000

120000

122000

124000

2
0
0
5
-0
6
 (A
)

2
0
0
6
-0
7
 (A
)

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 (A
)

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 (A
)

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 (A
)

2
0
1
0
-1
1
 (A
)

2
0
1
1
-1
2
 (A
)

2
0
1
2
-1
3
 (F
)

2
0
1
3
-1
4
 (F
)

2
0
1
4
-1
5
 (F
)

2
0
1
5
-1
6
 (F
)

2
0
1
6
-1
7
 (F
)

Pupils Capacity

 
Notes: (1) KCC pupil forecasts (2011-based), Provision Planning and Operations, KCC 

 
 Table 7 

Current and forecast primary pupils in mainstream schools by Kent District 

District 
Capacity 

2011-12 

Pupil 

roll 

2011-12 

Surplus 

places 

2011-12 

Surplus 

capacity 

2011-12 

(%) 

Capacity 

2016-17 

Pupil roll 

2016-17 

Surplus 

places 

2016-17 

Surplus 

capacity 

2016-17 

(%) 

Ashford 10011 9522 489 4.9 10757 10751 6 0.1 

Canterbury 10895 9534 1361 12.5 10592 9861 731 6.9 

Dartford  8504 7925 579 6.8 9380 9348 32 0.3 

Dover 9100 7688 1412 15.5 8913 8459 454 5.1 

Gravesham 8631 8228 403 4.7 9304 9059 245 2.6 

Maidstone 11969 10902 1067 8.9 12442 11894 548 4.4 

Sevenoaks 9302 8327 975 10.5 9661 8892 769 8.0 

Shepway 8633 7636 997 11.5 8461 8245 216 2.6 

Swale 11791 11022 769 6.5 11929 11937 -8 -0.1 

Thanet 10545 9910 635 6.0 10799 11056 -257 -2.4 

T&M 10772 9770 1002 9.3 10972 10154 818 7.5 

T Wells 8329 7639 690 8.3 9059 8614 445 4.9 

Kent 118482 108103 10379 8.8 122269 118270 3999 3.3 

Notes:  (1) Provision Planning and Operations, KCC (December 2011) 
(2) 2011-12 (A) pupil roll data from Schools Census (Autumn term), October 2011 

 
4.13 Table 7 shows that current surplus capacity for primary year groups (Reception - 

Year 6) varies across the County; from 5% in Gravesham to 16% in Dover.  
 

23



4.14 Current and Forecast Pupils in Mainstream Secondary Education 
 

Chart 6 indicates how Year 7 pupil numbers in Kent schools are forecast to rise up to 
2019-20 before falling again.  Table 8 below provides an overview of this at District 
level.  Chart 7 and Table 9 below provide similar information but for pupil numbers of 
Years 7 – 11. 

  
Chart 6 
Forecast Year 7 pupil numbers 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Notes:  (1) KCC pupil forecasts (2011-based), Provision Planning and Operations, KCC 

 

4.15 The number of Year 7 pupils in Kent schools has fallen for three consecutive years 
from 16,605 in 2008-09 to 15,421 in 2011-12 and is expected to continue falling to 
around 15,200 in 2013-14.  Thereafter, Year 7 rolls are forecast to rise to a peak of 
around 16,900 in 2019-20, a growth of 9% on current numbers, before declining once 
again.  

 
4.16 Table 8 (below) shows that current surplus capacity for Year 7 is 10% across Kent, 

but the figure varies from District to District with the extremes being from 3% in 
Dartford to 27% in Sevenoaks.  By the end of the forecasting period (2021-22) there 
will be 5% surplus capacity in Year 7 across the County, an improvement in the 
situation two years prior when only 2% surplus capacity is forecast.  
 

Year 7 pupils in Kent mainstream secondary schools

14000

14500

15000

15500

16000

16500

17000

17500

2
0
0
5
-0
6
 (A
)

2
0
0
6
-0
7
 (A
)

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 (A
)

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 (A
)

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 (A
)

2
0
1
0
-1
1
 (A
)

2
0
1
1
-1
2
 (A
)

2
0
1
2
-1
3
 (F
)

2
0
1
3
-1
4
 (F
)

2
0
1
4
-1
5
 (F
)

2
0
1
5
-1
6
 (F
)

2
0
1
6
-1
7
 (F
)

2
0
1
7
-1
8
 (F
)

2
0
1
8
-1
9
 (F
)

2
0
1
9
-2
0
 (F
)

2
0
2
0
-2
1
 (F
)

2
0
2
1
-2
2
 (F
)

Year 7 pupils Admission number

24



 Table 8 
Current and forecast Year 7 pupils in mainstream schools by Kent District 
 

 
Admission 

numbers 
      

District 
2011-

12 

2021-

22 

Pupil roll 

2011-12 

Surplus 

places 

2011-12 

Surplus 

capacity 

2011-12 

(%) 

Pupil roll 

2021-22 

Surplus 

places 

2021-22 

Surplus 

capacity 

2021-22 

(%) 

Ashford 1351 1361 1258 93 6.9 1345 16 1.2 

Canterbury 1718 1724 1481 237 13.8 1401 323 18.7 

Dartford  1405 1435 1366 39 2.8 1664 -229 -16.0 

Dover 1418 1393 1183 235 16.6 1358 35 2.5 

Gravesham 1284 1284 1160 124 9.7 1257 27 2.1 

Maidstone 1965 1965 1805 160 8.1 1817 148 7.5 

Sevenoaks 510 510 372 138 27.1 410 100 19.6 

Shepway 1210 1210 1022 188 15.5 961 249 20.6 

Swale 1642 1657 1571 71 4.3 1661 -4 -0.2 

Thanet 1544 1544 1460 84 5.4 1487 57 3.7 

T&M 1642 1649 1544 98 6.0 1564 85 5.2 

T Wells 1499 1409 1199 300 20.0 1292 117 8.3 

Kent 17188 17141 15421 1767 10.3 16217 924 5.4 

 
Notes:   (1) Provision Planning and Operations, KCC (December 2011) 
(2) 2011-12 (A) pupil roll data from Schools Census (Autumn term), October 2011 

 
 Chart 7 

Forecast total secondary school rolls 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Notes:  KCC pupil forecasts (2011-based), Provision Planning and Operations, KCC 

 
4.17 Chart 7 shows that the number of Year 7-11 pupils in Kent schools has been 

declining over the previous six years from 82,934 in 2005-06 to 80,372 in 2011-12 
and is expected to continue falling to around 77,600 in 2015-16.  Thereafter it is 
forecast to rise to a peak of around 83,200 in 2021-22 – a growth of just over 4% on 
current roll numbers.  

 
 
 

Pupils in Kent mainstream secondary schools (7-11)

72000

74000

76000

78000

80000

82000

84000

86000

88000

2
0
0
5
-0
6
 (A
)

2
0
0
6
-0
7
 (A
)

2
0
0
7
-0
8
 (A
)

2
0
0
8
-0
9
 (A
)

2
0
0
9
-1
0
 (A
)

2
0
1
0
-1
1
 (A
)

2
0
1
1
-1
2
 (A
)

2
0
1
2
-1
3
 (F
)

2
0
1
3
-1
4
 (F
)

2
0
1
4
-1
5
 (F
)

2
0
1
5
-1
6
 (F
)

2
0
1
6
-1
7
 (F
)

2
0
1
7
-1
8
 (F
)

2
0
1
8
-1
9
 (F
)

2
0
1
9
-2
0
 (F
)

2
0
2
0
-2
1
 (F
)

2
0
2
1
-2
2
 (F
)

Pupils Capacity

25



Table 9 
Current and forecast secondary pupils (Years 7-11) in mainstream schools by 
Kent District 

 

District 
Capacity 

2011-12 

Pupil roll 

2011-12 

Surplus 

places 

2011-12 

Surplus 

capacity 

2011-12 

(%) 

Capacity 

2021-22 

Pupil roll 

2021-22 

Surplus 

places 

2021-22 

Surplus 

capacity 

2021-22 

(%) 

Ashford 6755 6343 412 6.1 6805 7038 -233 -3.4 

Canterbury 8590 7901 689 8.0 8620 7433 1187 13.8 

Dartford  7025 6840 185 2.6 7175 8157 -982 -13.7 

Dover 7055 6361 694 9.8 6965 6952 13 0.2 

Gravesham 6574 6203 371 5.6 6420 6453 -33 -0.5 

Maidstone 9930 9119 811 8.2 9930 9276 654 6.6 

Sevenoaks 2550 2029 521 20.4 2550 2045 505 19.8 

Shepway 6050 5340 710 11.7 6050 4908 1142 18.9 

Swale 8285 7998 287 3.5 8346 7953 393 4.7 

Thanet 8008 7591 417 5.2 7720 7560 160 2.1 

T&M 8210 7760 450 5.5 8245 8171 74 0.9 

T Wells 7871 6887 984 12.5 7480 7270 210 2.8 

Kent 86903 80372 6531 7.5 86306 83216 3090 3.6 

Notes:  (1) Provision Planning and Operations, KCC (December 2011) 
(2) 2011-12 (A) pupil roll data from Schools Census (Autumn term), October 2011 

 
4.18 Table 9 shows that current surplus capacity for secondary year groups (Years 7-11) 

is 7% across Kent, with the extreme ranges being 3% surplus in Dartford to 20% in 
Sevenoaks.  This is forecast to decrease over the coming years, such that by the end 
of the forecasting period (2021-22) there will be 4% surplus capacity in secondary 
schools across the County.  While these figures indicate that across Kent there will 
be sufficient places for all children, this will not be true for all Districts (for example 
Ashford, Dartford and Gravesham).  The different demographic trends resulting from 
house building and inward migration will require additional capacity to be added to 
meet localised demand at times when rolls are falling in other parts of the County.  
The District level data in Appendix 1 highlights these differences, and are reflected in 
the commissioning plans in Section 11. 

 
 

 

26



5. Analysis and Forward Plan for Dover District 
 
District Analysis – Primary 
 
There are currently 41 schools in the Dover District serving the primary phase with a total of 
1267 places available annually in Reception Year.  There was an increase in the demand 
for Reception Year places for entry in September 2011 in the Deal locality. In agreement 
with the local authority, Hornbeam Primary School admitted 60 pupils (30 over the PAN of 
30), to meet this demand.  Forecasts indicate that this was an exceptional year and that 
these additional places will not be required in the near future.  
 
The number of surplus places forecast for the Dover District primary schools across the 
entire primary age range will reduce to 5% by 2016.  This means that, on the basis of 
current projections, there is sufficient capacity across the District to meet the expected 
demand. 
 
Major new housing is projected for Dover over the next 20 years with up to 14000 new 
houses predicted over that period. Potential development is documented within the Local 
Development Framework.  The most intensive development is planned for the Whitfield area 
where up to 6000 new houses are anticipated.  Realisation of development on this scale 
would require significant new primary school capacity.  A new 1FE school will need to be 
commissioned by 2016 with the potential for expansion to 2FE in the longer term 
 
In Aylesham, planned new house building has not so far impacted on demand for primary 
school places.  Unless proposed housing developments bring forward additional pupils it 
may be necessary to consider reducing the capacity in the planning area. 
 
The long term population forecast is for the primary school pupils to increase to 9900 by 
2026.  This would require 800 additional places (4FE) to those currently available (2011/12) 
if a 5% surplus is to be maintained (and assuming 95% of the cohort seek places in Dover’s 
state schools. 
 
Accuracy of forecasts – Forecasts for Dover primary schools have in recent years tended to 
over estimate the number of pupils consistently. 
 
District Analysis – Secondary 
 
On the basis of current projections, the existing Year 7 capacity of secondary schools in the 
Dover District exceeds the demand for places in each of the next 10 years.  This means that 
unless there is a substantial acceleration in the pace and/or scale of proposed housing 
development, there will be no need to commission additional secondary school places in 
Dover over the next 6 years. 
 
Currently five of the nine secondary schools in the Dover District are academies with a 
further conversion of one school expected this year. 
 
Accuracy of forecasts – Dover secondary forecasts have proved to be largely accurate over 
the last 5 years. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

27



Dover Primary School Commissioning Position 
 

Planning Area or 
group of Planning 

Areas 

Short Term Commissioning  
Position (by 2013) 

Medium Term Commissioning   
Position (by 2016) 

Longer Term Commissioning 
 (> 2016) 

Dover and Whitfield 
 

Any shortfall of places will be met by 
increasing capacity at existing schools 
as necessary. 

A 1FE school will need to be 
commissioned by 2016 with the 
potential for expansion to 2FE. 

A further two 2FE primary schools will 
be needed in the longer term. 

Aylesham and 
Nonington 

No change Consideration may need to be given to 
reducing surplus capacity unless 
further new housing comes forward. 
 

 

 

 

Dover Secondary School Commissioning Position 
 

Short Term Commissioning Position (by 
2013) 

Medium Tem Commission Position (by 
2016) 

Longer Term Commissioning (>2016) 

No change. 
 

No change. The local authority may need to commission 
additional capacity in Dover in the longer term. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

28



Dover primary schools planning 
areas 

Y
e
a
r R

 a
d
m

is
s
io

n
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

(S
e
p
te

m
b
e
r 2

0
1
1
) 

Y
e
a
r R

 ro
ll (A

u
tu

m
n
 2

0
1
1
) 

Y
e
a
r R

 s
u
rp

lu
s
 / d

e
fic

it 

c
a
p
a
c
ity

 (%
) (A

u
tu

m
n
 2

0
1
1
) 

T
o
ta

l c
a
p
a
c
ity

 2
0
1
1
-1

2
 

T
o
ta

l ro
ll (A

u
tu

m
n
 2

0
1
1
) 

T
o
ta

l s
u
rp

lu
s
 / d

e
fic

it c
a
p
a
c
ity

 

(%
) (A

u
tu

m
n
 2

0
1
1
) 

Y
e
a
r R

 2
0
1
2
-1

3
 (F

) 

Y
e
a
r R

 2
0
1
3
-1

4
 (F

) 

Y
e
a
r R

 2
0
1
4
-1

5
 (F

) 

Y
e
a
r R

 2
0
1
5
-1

6
 (F

) 

Y
e
a
r R

 2
0
1
6
-1

7
 (F

) 

T
o
ta

l ro
ll 2

0
1
2
-1

3
 (F

) 

T
o
ta

l ro
ll 2

0
1
3
-1

4
 (F

) 

T
o
ta

l ro
ll 2

0
1
4
-1

5
 (F

) 

T
o
ta

l ro
ll 2

0
1
5
-1

6
 (F

) 

T
o
ta

l ro
ll 2

0
1
6
-1

7
 (F

) 

Dover 350 318 9.1 2503 2077 17.0 332 396 382 330 335 2083 2189 2291 2194 2192 

Whitfield 57 65 -14.0 369 414 -12.2 54 46 62 54 55 405 494 400 414 414 

Aycliffe 20 15 25.0 170 98 42.4 25 19 16 19 19 114 116 115 113 113 

St. Margaret's-at-Cliffe 30 29 3.3 210 201 4.3 18 21 24 23 23 182 176 170 190 190 

Guston & Langdon 32 38 -18.8 214 216 -0.9 21 26 25 24 24 169 162 153 178 178 

River 60 59 1.7 420 403 4.0 81 71 48 67 68 472 495 485 474 474 

Lydden & Temple Ewell 32 28 12.5 224 200 10.7 26 38 26 31 32 213 220 220 219 219 

Capel-le-Ferne 30 29 3.3 206 190 7.8 20 12 15 18 19 171 154 143 171 171 

Deal 315 310 1.6 2100 1791 14.7 265 263 263 252 256 1802 1834 1841 1851 1850 

Kingsdown 28 30 -7.1 196 206 -5.1 29 35 37 30 31 210 216 224 219 219 

Eastry & Northbourne 50 45 10.0 350 295 15.7 40 44 38 39 40 308 315 302 315 315 

Eythorne & Sibertswold 50 44 12.0 380 278 26.8 40 34 30 35 36 286 274 257 285 285 

Aylesham & Nonington 87 58 33.3 654 358 45.3 53 53 49 50 51 373 387 398 385 385 

Ash & Wingham 90 74 17.8 626 558 10.9 78 83 61 70 71 554 556 527 565 565 

Sandwich 66 59 10.6 478 403 15.7 53 70 45 58 59 437 452 450 451 450 

District pupil product adjustment - - - - - - 12 17 22 27 32 83 121 157 190 223 

District pre-school migration - - - - - - 23 35 46 50 51 35 69 115 165 216 

Total 1297 1201 7.4 9100 7688 15.5 1170 1263 1189 1177 1202 7897 8230 8248 8379 8459 

Forecast Year R admission number / 
Total capacity 

- - - - - - 1269 1260 1260 1260 1260 9064 9024 8975 8941 8913 

Forecast surplus / deficit places - - - - - - 99 -3 71 83 58 1167 794 727 562 454 

Forecast surplus / deficit capacity (%) - - - - - - 7.8 -0.2 5.6 6.6 4.6 12.9 8.8 8.1 6.3 5.1 

29



 
 
 

Dover secondary schools 

2
0
1
1
-1

2
 

2
0
1
2
-1

3
 

2
0
1
3
-1

4
 

2
0
1
4
-1

5
 

2
0
1
5
-1

6
 

2
0
1
6
-1

7
 

2
0
1
7
-1

8
 

2
0
1
8
-1

9
 

2
0
1
9
-2

0
 

2
0
2
0
-2

1
 

2
0
2
1
-2

2
 

Year 7 admission number 1418 1393 1393 1393 1393 1393 1393 1393 1393 1393 1393 

Year 7 roll 1183 1224 1198 1248 1248 1319 1314 1446 1361 1450 1358 

Year 7 surplus / deficit places 235 169 195 145 145 74 79 -53 32 -57 35 

Year 7 surplus / deficit capacity (%) 16.6 12.1 14.0 10.4 10.4 5.3 5.7 -3.8 2.3 -4.1 2.5 

Total capacity (Years 7-11) 7055 7040 7025 7010 6990 6965 6965 6965 6965 6965 6965 

Total roll (Years 7-11) 6361 6410 6258 6195 6187 6262 6350 6598 6711 6913 6952 

Total surplus / deficit places (Years 7-11) 694 630 767 815 803 703 615 367 254 52 13 

Total surplus / deficit capacity (Years 7-11) (%) 9.8 8.9 10.9 11.6 11.5 10.1 8.8 5.3 3.6 0.7 0.2 

Post 16 roll 1454 1499 1515 1521 1495 1457 1426 1396 1405 1422 1456 

Total roll (including Post-16) 7815 7909 7773 7716 7682 7719 7776 7994 8116 8335 8408 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

30



Dover District Locality Board     27th November 2012  
 
 

Recommendation to Cllr Mike Whiting, KCC Cabinet Member: 
At the meeting of the Locality Board on 24th September 2012, it was agreed to establish a Student 
Task Force– this group is to be known as the Dover District 14-24 Student Progression Working 
Group.  The recommendation is for the Locality Board to consider and recommend for approval the 
following Terms of Reference.  

 
Dover District 14-24 Student Progression Working Group 

Terms of Reference 
Background: 

• Dover Growth Point 

• Housing Growth for enlarged population 

• Skilled employed people and retraining/upskilling of existing workforce 

• Opportunity to challenge and change traditional approach- start at the employment end rather than 
the school end, Destination Management and work back. 

Task and Finish  
Task: 
1. To scope existing progression pathways (undertaken by Ann McNulty and Roger Gabriel) 
2. To develop a draft Local Implementation Plan, based on findings and KCC’s 14-24 Strategy and 

consider joint delivery and resources 
3. To advise the Locality Board on the establishment of a quick win project to cement the present 

building blocks of Maritime Students progression route; Walmer School, FE, Viking Maritime 
Academy 

4. Scope potential other employment of in-school progression, e.g., Construction, Engineering and 
ICT as well as apprenticeships and internships 

5. Advise the Locality Board and KCC on the redesign of progression routes through post school 
middle ground and changes within FE, especially K College, as information updates 

6. Work with KCC Education and Regeneration for implementation of the Plan in Dover and wider as 
a model for other deprived areas 
 

Finish -  outcomes 
a. A small number of clear well charted progression routes/pathways applicable to the Dover 

District’s needs. Gaps and opportunities highlighted. 
b. An agreed Maritime route 
c. A model, for transfer elsewhere, of local student pathway construction. 
d. A plan for greater involvement of all stakeholders including School, business, college, 

providers and local authorities, students and employers, 
 
Funding: 
Up to £5k from KCC Members Community Grant (Cllrs Kit Smith and Julie Rook) 
Lever in other funding if necessary 
 
Governance Arrangements and Financial Accountability: 
Financial accountability will rest with KCC and the existing financial procedures for KCC Members 
Grant. 
The Working Group will report into the Locality Board with any recommendations. 
 
Support and Secretariat: 
Patrick Leeson – Corporate Director, Education Learning and Skills, KCC has indicated possible 
support and secretariat for local implementation projects of KCC’s 14-24 Strategy, subject to ToRs 
and work plan. 
 
Taskforce Members: 
Anne McNulty – Education Business Partnership Kent (EBP Kent), Chair of Task Force 
Nicholas Fowler – Denne (Builders Kent) Leadbitter Group, Business Improvement Manager 
Roger Gabriel – Maritime – Micro Business Consultant 
Cllr Kit Smith – DDC and KCC, Cllr Leyland Ridings – KCC 

Report of Cllr Kit Smith14/11/12 

Agenda Item No 7

31


	Agenda
	4 Notes
	6 Kent County Council's Commissioning Plan for Education Provision
	Appendix - Commissioning Plan

	7 Sub-Group Updates

